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avoid improper disclosure and to iden-
tify it as a portion of the official record
in the proceedings.

[54 FR 48596, Nov. 24, 1989. Redesignated by
Order No. 1534–91, 56 FR 50053, Oct. 3, 1991]

§ 68.52 Final order of the Administra-
tive Law Judge.

(a) Proposed final order. (1) Within
twenty (20) days of filing of the tran-
script of the testimony, or within such
additional time as the Administrative
Law Judge may allow, the Administra-
tive Law Judge may require the parties
to file proposed findings of fact, con-
clusions of law, and orders, together
with supporting briefs expressing the
reasons for such proposals. Such pro-
posals and briefs shall be served on all
parties and shall refer to all portions of
the record and to all authorities relied
upon in support of each proposal.

(2) The Administrative Law Judge
may, by order, require that when a pro-
posed order is filed for the Administra-
tive Law Judge’s consideration, the fil-
ing party shall submit to the Adminis-
trative Law Judge a copy of the pro-
posed order on a 3.5″ microdisk.

(b) Entry of final order. Unless an ex-
tension of time is given by the Chief
Administrative Hearing Officer for
good cause, the Administrative Law
Judge shall enter the final order within
sixty (60) days after receipt of the hear-
ing transcript or of post-hearing briefs,
proposed findings of fact, and conclu-
sions of law, if any, by the Administra-
tive Law Judge. The final order entered
by the Administrative Law Judge shall
be based upon the whole record. It shall
be supported by reliable and probative
evidence. The standard of proof shall be
by a preponderance of the evidence.

(c) Contents of final order with respect
to unlawful employment of unauthorized
aliens. (1) If, upon the preponderance of
the evidence, the Administrative Law
Judge determines that a person or enti-
ty named in the complaint has violated
section 274A(a)(1)(A) or (a)(2) of the
INA, the final order shall require the
person or entity to cease and desist
from such violations and to pay a civil
penalty in an amount of:

(i) Not less than $250 and not more
than $2,000 for each unauthorized alien
with respect to whom there was a vio-
lation of either such paragraph occur-

ring before March 15, 1999; not less than
$275 and not more than $2,200 for each
unauthorized alien with respect to
whom there was a violation of either
such paragraph ccurring on or after
March 15, 1999;

(ii) In the case or a person or entity
previously subject to one final order
under this paragraph (c)(1), not less
than $2,000 and not more than $5,000 for
each unauthorized alien with respect to
whom there was a violation of either
such paragraph occurring before March
15, 1999, and not less than $2,200 and not
more than $5,500 for each unauthorized
alien with respect to whom there was a
violation of either such paragraph oc-
curring on or after March 15, 1999; or

(iii) In the case of a person or entity
previously subject to more than one
final order under paragraph (c)(1) of
this section, not less than $3,000 and
not more than $10,000 for each unau-
thorized alien with respect to whom
there was a violation of each such
paragraph occurring before March 15,
1999, and not less than $3,300 and not
more than $11,000 for each unauthor-
ized alien with respect to whom there
was a violation of each such paragraph
occurring on or after March 15, 1999.

(2) The final order may also require
the respondent to participate in, and
comply with the terms of, one of the
pilot programs set forth in Pub. L. 104–
208, Div. C, sections 401–05, 110 Stat.
3009, 3009–655 to 3009–665 (1996) (codified
at 8 U.S.C. 1324a (note)), with respect
to the respondent’s hiring or recruit-
ment or referral of individuals in a
state (as defined in section 101(a)(36) of
the INA) covered by such a program.

(3) The final order may also require
the respondent to comply with the re-
quirements of section 274A(b) of the
INA with respect to individuals hired
(or recruited or referred for employ-
ment for a fee) during a period of up to
three years; and to take such other re-
medial action as is appropriate.

(4) In the case of a person or entity
composed of distinct, physically sepa-
rate subdivisions, each of which pro-
vides separately for the hiring, recruit-
ing, or referring for employment, with-
out reference to the practices of, and
under the control of, or common con-
trol with, another subdivision, each
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such subdivision shall be considered a
separate person or entity.

(5) If, upon a preponderance of the
evidence, the Administrative Law
Judge determines that a person or enti-
ty named in the complaint has violated
section 274A(a)(1)(B) of the INA, except
as set forth in paragraph (c)(6) of this
section, the final order under this para-
graph shall require the person or entity
to pay a civil penalty in an amount of
not less than $100 and not more than
$1,000 for each individual with respect
to whom such violation occurred before
March 15, 1999, and not less than $110
and not more than $1,100 for each indi-
vidual with respect to whom such vio-
lation occurred on or after March 15,
1999. In determining the amount of the
penalty, due consideration shall be
given to the size of the business of the
employer being charged, the good faith
of the employer, the seriousness of the
violation, whether or not the indi-
vidual was an unauthorized alien, and
the history of previous violations.

(6) With respect to a violation of sec-
tion 274A(a)(1)(B) of the INA where a
person or entity participating in a
pilot program has failed to provide no-
tice of final nonconfirmation of em-
ployment eligibility of an individual to
the Attorney General as required by
Pub. L. 104-208, Div. C, section
403(a)(4)(C), 110 Stat. 3009, 3009–661 (1996)
(codified at 8 U.S.C. 1324a (note)), the
final order under this paragraph shall
require the person or entity to pay a
civil penalty in an amount of not less
than $500 and not more than $1,000 for
each individual with respect to whom
such violation occurred.

(7) Prohibition of indemnity bond cases.
If, upon the preponderance of the evi-
dence, the Administrative Law Judge
determines that a person or entity has
violated section 274A(g)(1) of the INA,
the final order shall require the person
or entity to pay a civil penalty of $1,000
for each individual with respect to
whom such violation occurred before
March 15, 1999, and $1,100 for each indi-
vidual with respect to whom such vio-
lation occurred on or after March 15,
1999, and require the return of any
amounts received in such violation to
the individual or, if the individual can-
not be located, to the general fund of
the Treasury.

(8) Adjustment of penalties for inflation.
The civil penalties cited in paragraph
(c) of this section shall be subject to
adjustments for inflation at least every
four years in accordance with the Debt
Collection Improvement Act.

(9) Attorney’s fees. A prevailing re-
spondent may receive, pursuant to 5
U.S.C. 504, an award of attorney’s fees
in unlawful employment and prohibi-
tion of indemnity bond cases. Any ap-
plication for attorney’s fees shall be
accompanied by an itemized statement
from the attorney or representative,
stating the actual time expended and
the rate at which fees and other ex-
penses were computed. An award of at-
torney’s fees will not be made if the
Administrative Law Judge determines
that the complainant’s position was
substantially justified or special cir-
cumstances make the award unjust.

(d) Contents of final order with respect
to unfair immigration-related employment
practice cases. (1) If, upon the prepon-
derance of the evidence, the Adminis-
trative Law Judge determines that any
person or entity named in the com-
plaint has engaged in or is engaging in
an unfair immigration-related employ-
ment practice, the final order shall in-
clude a requirement that the person or
entity cease and desist from such prac-
tice. The final order may also require
the person or entity:

(i) To comply with the requirements
of section 274A(b) of the INA with re-
spect to individuals hired (or recruited
or referred for employment for a fee)
during a period of up to three years;

(ii) To retain for a period of up to
three years, and only for purposes con-
sistent with section 274A(b)(5) of the
INA, the name and address of each in-
dividual who applies, in person or in
writing, for hiring for an existing posi-
tion, or for recruiting or referring for a
fee, for employment in the United
States;

(iii) To hire individuals directly and
adversely affected, with or without
back pay;

(iv) To post notices to employees
about their rights under section 274B
and employers’ obligations under sec-
tion 274A;

(v) To educate all personnel involved
in hiring and in complying with section
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274A or 274B about the requirements of
274A or 274B;

(vi) To order, in an appropriate case,
the removal of a false performance re-
view or false warning from an employ-
ee’s personnel file;

(vii) To order, in an appropriate case,
the lifting of any restrictions on an
employee’s assignments, work shifts,
or movements;

(viii) Except as provided in paragraph
(d)(1)(xii) of this section, to pay a civil
penalty of not less than $250 and not
more than $2,000 for each individual
discriminated against before March 15,
1999, and not less than $275 and not
more than $2,200 for each individual
discriminated against on or after
March 15, 1999;

(ix) Except as provided in paragraph
(d)(1)(xii) of this section, in the case of
a person or entity previously subject to
a single final order under section
274B(g)(2) of the INA, to pay a civil
penalty of not less than $2,000 and not
more than $5,000 for each individual
discriminated against before March 15,
1999, and not less than $2,200 and not
more than $5,500 for each individual
discriminated against on or after
March 15, 1999;

(x) Except as provided in paragraph
(d)(1)(xii) of this section, in the case of
a person or entity previously subject to
more than one final order under sec-
tion 274B(g)(2) of the INA, to pay a civil
penalty of not less than $3,000 and not
more than $10,000 for each individual
discriminated against before March 15,
1999, and not less than $3,300 and not
more than $11,000 for each individual
discriminated against on or after
March 15, 1999;

(xi) To participate in, and comply
with the terms of, one of the pilot pro-
grams set forth in Pub. L. 104–208, Div.
C, sections 401–05, 110 Stat. 3009, 3009–
655 to 3009–665 (1996) (codified at 8
U.S.C. 1324a (note)), with respect to the
respondent’s hiring or recruitment or
referral of individuals in a state (as de-
fined in section 101(a)(36) of the INA)
covered by such a program; and

(xii) In the case of an unfair immi-
gration-related employment practice
where a person or entity, for the pur-
pose or with the intent of discrimi-
nating against an individual in viola-
tion of section 274B(a), requests more

or different documents than are re-
quired under section 274A(b) or refuses
to honor documents that on their face
reasonably appear to be genuine, to
pay a civil penalty of not less than $100
and not more than $1,000 for each indi-
vidual discriminated against before
March 15, 1999, and not less than $110
and not more than $1,100 for each indi-
vidual discriminated against on or
after March 15, 1999, or to order any of
the remedies listed as paragraphs
(d)(1)(i) through (d)(1)(vii) of this sec-
tion.

(2) The civil penalties cited in para-
graph (d) of this section shall be sub-
ject to adjustments for inflation at
least every four years in accordance
with the Debt Collection Improvement
Act.

(3) Back pay liability shall not ac-
crue from a date more than two years
prior to the date of the filing of a
charge with the Special Counsel. In no
event shall back pay accrue from be-
fore November 6, 1986. Interim earnings
or amounts earnable with reasonable
diligence by the individual or individ-
uals discriminated against shall oper-
ate to reduce the back pay otherwise
allowable. No order shall require the
hiring of an individual as an employee,
or the payment to an individual of any
back pay, if the individual was refused
employment for any reason other than
discrimination on account of national
origin or citizenship status unless it is
determined that an unfair immigra-
tion-related employment practice ex-
ists under section 274B(a)(5) of the INA.

(4) In applying paragraph (d) of this
section in the case of a person or entity
composed of distinct, physically sepa-
rate subdivisions, each of which pro-
vides separately for the hiring, recruit-
ing, or referring for employment, with-
out reference to the practices of, and
not under the control of or common
control with another subdivision, each
such subdivision shall be considered a
separate person or entity.

(5) If, upon the preponderance of the
evidence, the Administrative Law
Judge determines that a person or enti-
ty named in the complaint has not en-
gaged in and is not engaging in an un-
fair immigration-related employment
practice, then the final order shall dis-
miss the complaint.
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(6) Attorney’s fees. The Administra-
tive Law Judge in his or her discretion
may allow a prevailing party, other
than the United States, a reasonable
attorney’s fee if the losing party’s ar-
gument is without reasonable founda-
tion in law and fact. Any application
for attorney’s fees shall be accom-
panied by an itemized statement from
the attorney or representative stating
the actual time expended and the rate
at which fees and other expenses were
computed.

(e) Contents of final order with respect
to document fraud cases. (1) If, upon the
preponderance of the evidence, the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge determines
that a person or entity has violated
section 274C of the INA, the final order
shall include a requirement that the
respondent cease and desist from such
violations and pay a civil money pen-
alty in an amount of:

(i) Not less than $250 and not more
than $2,000 for each document that is
the subject of a violation under section
274C(a)(1) through (6) of the INA before
March 15, 1999, and not less than $275
and not more than $2,200 for each docu-
ment that is the subject of a violation
under section 274C(a)(1) through (6) of
the INA on or after March 15, 1999; or,

(ii) In the case of a respondent pre-
viously subject to one or more final or-
ders under section 274C(d)(3) of the
INA, not less than $2,000 and not more
than $5,000 for each document that is
the subject of a violation under section
274C(a)(1) through (6) of the INA before
March 15, 1999, and not less than $2,200
and not more than $5,500 for each docu-
ment that is the subject of a violation
under section 274C(a) (1) through (6) of
the INA on or after March 15, 1999.

(2) In the case of a person or entity
composed of distinct, physically sepa-
rate subdivisions, each of which pro-
vides separately for the hiring, recruit-
ing, or referring for employment, with-
out reference to the practices of, and
under the control of, or common con-
trol with, another subdivision, each
such subdivision shall be considered a
separate person or entity.

(3) Adjustment of penalties for inflation.
The civil penalties cited in paragraph
(e) of this section shall be subject to

adjustments for inflation at least every
four years in accordance with the Debt
Collection Improvement Act.

(4) Attorney’s fees. A prevailing re-
spondent may receive, pursuant to 5
U.S.C. 504, an award of attorney’s fees
in document fraud cases. Any applica-
tion for attorney’s fees shall be accom-
panied by an itemized statement from
the attorney or representative, stating
the actual time expended and the rate
at which fees and other expenses were
computed. An award of attorney’s fees
shall not be made if the Administrative
Law Judge determines that the com-
plainant’s position was substantially
justified or special circumstances
make the award unjust.

(f) Corrections to orders. An Adminis-
trative Law Judge may, in the interest
of justice, correct any clerical mis-
takes or typographical errors con-
tained in a final order entered in a case
arising under section 274A or 274C of
the INA at any time within thirty (30)
days after the entry of the final order.
Changes other than clerical mistakes
or typographical errors will be consid-
ered in cases arising under sections
274A and 274C of the INA by filing a re-
quest for review to the Chief Adminis-
trative Hearing Officer by a party
under § 68.54, or the Chief Administra-
tive Hearing Officer may exercise dis-
cretionary review to make such
changes pursuant to § 68.54. In cases
arising under section 274B of the INA,
an Administrative Law Judge may cor-
rect any substantive, clerical, or typo-
graphical errors or mistakes in a final
order at any time within sixty (60) days
after the entry of the final order.

(g) Final agency order. In a case aris-
ing under section 274A or 274C of the
INA, the Administrative Law Judge’s
order becomes the final agency order
sixty (60) days after the date of the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge’s order, unless
the Chief Administrative Hearing Offi-
cer modifies, vacates, or remands the
Administrative Law Judge’s final order
pursuant to § 68.54, or unless the order
is referred to the Attorney General
pursuant to § 68.55. In a case arising
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under section 274B of the INA, the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge’s order be-
comes the final agency order on the
date the order is issued.

[Order No. 2203–99, 64 FR 7079, Feb. 12, 1999, as
amended by Order No. 2255–99, 64 FR 49660,
Sept. 14, 1999]

§ 68.53 Review of an interlocutory
order of an Administrative Law
Judge in cases arising under sec-
tion 274A or 274C.

(a) Authority. In a case arising under
section 274A or 274C of the Immigration
and Nationality Act, the Chief Admin-
istrative Hearing Officer may, within
thirty (30) days of the date of an Ad-
ministrative Law Judge’s interlocutory
order, issue an order that modifies or
vacates the interlocutory order. The
Chief Administrative Hearing Officer
may review an Administrative Law
Judge’s interlocutory order if:

(1) An Administrative Law Judge,
when issuing an interlocutory order,
states in writing that the Judge be-
lieves:

(i) That the order concerns an impor-
tant question of law on which there is
a substantial difference of opinion; and

(ii) That an immediate appeal will
advance the ultimate termination of
the proceeding or that subsequent re-
view will be an inadequate remedy; or

(2) Within ten (10) days of the date of
the entry of an interlocutory order a
party requests by motion that the
Chief Administrative Hearing Officer
review the interlocutory order. This
motion shall contain a clear statement
of why interlocutory review is appro-
priate under the standards set out in
paragraph (a)(1) of this section; or

(3) Within ten (10) days of the entry
of the interlocutory order, the Chief
Administrative Hearing Officer, upon
the Officer’s own initiative, determines
that such order is appropriate for in-
terlocutory review pursuant to the
standards set out in paragraph (a)(1)
and issues a notification of review.
This notification shall state the issues
to be reviewed.

(b) Stay of proceedings. Review of an
Administrative Law Judge’s interlocu-
tory order will not stay the proceeding
unless the Administrative Law Judge
or the Chief Administrative Hearing

Officer determines that the cir-
cumstances require a postponement.

(c) Review by Chief Administrative
Hearing Officer. Review by the Chief
Administrative Hearing Officer of an
interlocutory order shall be conducted
in the same manner as is provided for
review of final orders in § 68.54(b)
through (d). An interlocutory order, or
an order modifying, vacating, or re-
manding an interlocutory order, shall
not be considered a final agency order.
If the Chief Administrative Hearing Of-
ficer does not modify, vacate, or re-
mand an interlocutory order reviewed
pursuant to paragraph (a) within thirty
(30) days of the date that the order is
entered, the Administrative Law
Judge’s interlocutory order is deemed
adopted.

(d) Effect of interlocutory review. (1) An
order by the Chief Administrative
Hearing Officer modifying or vacating
an interlocutory order shall also re-
mand the case to the Administrative
Law Judge. Further proceedings in the
case shall be conducted consistent with
the Chief Administrative Hearing Offi-
cer’s order.

(2) Whether or not an interlocutory
order is reviewed by the Chief Adminis-
trative Hearing Officer, all parties re-
tain the right to request administra-
tive review of the final order of the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge pursuant to
§ 68.54 with respect to all issues in the
case.

[Order No. 2203–99, 64 FR 7081, Feb. 12, 1999]

§ 68.54 Administrative review of a final
order of an Administrative Law
Judge in cases arising under sec-
tion 274A or 274C.

(a) Authority of the Chief Administra-
tive Hearing Officer. In a case arising
under section 274A or 274C of the INA,
the Chief Administrative Hearing Offi-
cer has discretionary authority, pursu-
ant to sections 274A(e)(7) and 274C(d)(4)
of the INA and 5 U.S.C. 557, to review
any final order of an Administrative
Law Judge in accordance with the pro-
visions of this section.

(1) A party may file with the Chief
Administrative Hearing Officer a writ-
ten request for administrative review
within ten (10) days of the date of entry
of the Administrative Law Judge’s
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